## AUSTRALIAN MAMMALS BIOLOGY AND CAPTIVE MANAGEMENT



Stephen Jackson

## AUSTRALIAN MAMMALS BIOLOGY AND CAPTIVE MANAGEMENT

This page intentionally left blank

# AUSTRALIAN MAMMALS BIOLOGY AND CAPTIVE MANAGEMENT



## Stephen Jackson



#### © CSIRO 2003

All rights reserved. Except under the conditions described in the Australian Copyright Act 1968 and subsequent amendments, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, duplicating or otherwise, without the prior permission of the copyright owner. Contact CSIRO PUBLISHING for all permission requests.

National Library of Australia Cataloguing-in-Publication entry Jackson, Stephen M. Australian mammals: Biology and captive management Bibliography. ISBN 0 643 06635 7. 1. Mammals – Australia. 2. Captive mammals. I. Title. 599.0994

Available from CSIRO PUBLISHING 150 Oxford Street (PO Box 1139) Collingwood VIC 3066 Australia

 Telephone:
 +61 3 9662 7666

 Local call:
 1300 788 000 (Australia only)

 Fax:
 +61 3 9662 7555

 Email:
 publishing.sales@csiro.au

 Web site:
 www.publish.csiro.au

Cover photos courtesy Stephen Jackson, Esther Beaton and Nick Alexander

Set in Minion and Optima Cover and text design by James Kelly Typeset by Desktop Concepts Pty Ltd Printed in Australia by Ligare

## CONTENTS

Foreword	xvii
Introduction	xix
Acknowledgments	xxi
Outline	xxii

## 1 Platypus

1	Introduction 1					
2	Taxor	Taxonomy 2				
	2.1	Nomenclature	2			
	2.2	Subspecies	2			
	2.3	Recent synonyms	2			
	2.4	Other common names	2			
3	Natu	ral history	2			
	3.1	Morphometrics	2			
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	2			
	3.3	Conservation status	2			
	3.4	Diet in the wild	2			
	3.5	Longevity	3			
4	Hous	ing requirements	3			
	4.1	Exhibit design	3			
	4.2	Holding area design	5			
	4.3		5			
	4.4	Position of enclosures	6			
	4.5	Weather protection	6			
	4.6	Temperature requirements	6			
	4.7	Substrate	6			
	4.8	Nest boxes	6			
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	6			
5	Gene	ral husbandry	6			
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	6			
	5.2	Record keeping	7			
	5.3	Methods of identification	8			
6	Feedi	ng requirements	8			
	6.1	Captive diet	8			

	6.2	Supplements	9
	6.3	Presentation of food	9
	6.4	Estimating the amount of food	
		consumed	9
7	Hand	lling and transport	9
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	9
	7.2	Catching bags	9
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	10
	7.4	Weighing and examination	11
	7.5	Release	11
	7.6	Transport requirements	11
8	Healt	h requirements	11
	8.1	Daily health checks	11
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	12
	8.3	Known health problems	12
9	Behav	viour	15
	9.1	Activity	15
	9.2	Social behaviour	15
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	15
	9.4	Grooming	15
	9.5	Behavioural problems	15
	9.6	Signs of stress	16
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	17
	9.8	Introductions and removals	17
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	17
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	19
	9.11	Suitability to captivity	19
10	Breed	ling	19
	10.1	Mating system	19
	10.2	Ease of breeding	19
	10.3	Reproductive status	19
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	20
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	20
	10.6	Timing of breeding	20
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	20
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	20
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	20
	10.10	Nesting requirements	20

	10.11	Breedin	g diet	21
	10.12	Oestrou	is cycle and gestation and	
			ion periods	21
	10.13	Litter si	ze	21
	10.14	Age at v	veaning	21
	10.15	Age at r	removal from parent	22
	10.16	Growth	and development	22
11	Artifi	cial rea	ing	22
	11.1	Housin	g	22
	11.2	Temper	ature requirements	23
	11.3	Diet an	d feeding routine	24
	11.4	Specific	requirements	25
	11.5	Data re	cording	25
	11.6	Identifi	cation methods	26
		Hygien		26
	11.8	Behavio	oural considerations	26
	11.9	Use of f	oster species	26
		Weanin		26
	11.11	Rehabil	itation and release procedures	27
12	Ackn	owledg	ments	27
	Adder	ndum 1	Introducing platypus to	
			unfamiliar facilities and/or	
			other platypus	28
	Adder	ndum 2	Bringing platypus in from	
			the wild	28
	Adder	ndum 3	Rescued platypus	30

### 2 Echidnas

1	Introduction		
2	Taxor	nomy	34
	2.1	Nomenclature	34
	2.2	Subspecies	34
	2.3	Recent synonyms	34
	2.4	Other common names	34
3	Natu	ral history	34
	3.1	Morphometrics	34
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	34
	3.3	Conservation status	34
	3.4	Diet in the wild	34
	3.5	Longevity	34
4	Hous	ing requirements	34
	4.1	Exhibit design	34
	4.2	Holding area design	35
	4.3	Spatial requirements	35
	4.4	Position of enclosures	35
	4.5	Weather protection	35

	4.6	Temperature requirements	35
	4.7	Substrate	35
	4.8	Nest boxes	35
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	35
5	Gene	ral husbandry	36
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	36
	5.2	Record keeping	36
	5.3	Methods of identification	36
6	Feedi	ng requirements	36
	6.1	Captive diet	36
	6.2	Supplements	37
	6.3	Presentation of food	37
7	Hand	lling and transport	37
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	37
	7.2	Catching bags	37
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	37
	7.4	Weighing and examination	38
	7.5	Release	39
	7.6	Transport requirements	39
8	Healt	h requirements	39
	8.1	Daily health checks	39
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	39
	8.3	Known health problems	40
9	Beha	viour	42
	9.1	Activity	42
	9.2	Social behaviour	43
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	43
	9.4	Bathing	43
	9.5	Behavioural problems	43
	9.6	Signs of stress	43
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	43
	9.8	Introductions and removals	44
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	44
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	44
10	Breed	ling	44
	10.1	Mating system	44
	10.2	Ease of breeding	44
	10.3	Reproductive status	44
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	45
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	45
	10.6	Timing of breeding	45
	10.7	Age at first breeding and last breeding	46
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	46
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	46
		Nest/hollow requirements Breeding diet	46 46
		-	40
	10.12	Oestrous cycle and gestation and incubation periods	46
		measurion perious	-10

	10.13	Litter size	46
	10.14	Age at weaning	46
	10.15	Age of removal from parents	46
	10.16	Growth and development	46
11	Artifi	cial rearing	47
	11.1	Housing	47
	11.2	Temperature requirements	47
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	48
	11.4	Specific requirements	49
	11.5	Data recording	49
	11.6	Identification methods	50
	11.7	Hygiene and special precautions	50
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	50
	11.9	Use of foster species	50
	11.10	Weaning	50
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	51
12	Ackn	owledgments	51

## 3 Carnivorous marsupials

1 Intro	1 Introduction		
2 Taxo	onomy	55	
2.1	Nomenclature	55	
2.2	Subspecies	55	
2.3	Recent synonyms	55	
2.4	Other common names	55	
3 Nat	ural history	55	
3.1	Morphometrics	55	
3.2	Distribution and habitat	55	
3.3	Conservation status	55	
3.4	Diet in the wild	55	
3.5	Longevity	57	
4 Housing requirements			
4.1	Exhibit design	59	
4.2	Holding area design	59	
4.3	Spatial requirements	61	
4.4	Position of enclosures	61	
4.5	Weather protection	61	
4.6	Temperature requirements	61	
4.7	Substrate	62	
4.8	Nest boxes	62	
4.9	Enclosure furnishings	62	
5 Gen	eral husbandry	63	
5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	63	
5.2	Record keeping	63	
5.3	Methods of identification	63	

6	Feedi	ng requirements	64
	6.1	Captive diet	64
	6.2	Supplements	68
	6.3	Presentation of food	68
7	Hand	lling and transport	68
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	68
	7.2	Catching bags	68
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	68
	7.4	Weighing and examination	70
	7.5	Release	71
	7.6	Transport requirements	71
8	Healt	h requirements	71
	8.1	Daily health checks	71
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	72
	8.3	Known health problems	72
9	Behav	viour	74
	9.1	Activity	74
	9.2	Social behaviour	75
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	78
	9.4	Bathing	79
	9.5	Behavioural problems	79
	9.6	Signs of stress	79
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	79
	9.8	Introductions and removals	80
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	80
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	80
10	Breed	0	81
	10.1	Mating system	81
	10.2	Ease of breeding	83
	10.3	Reproductive status	84
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	86
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	88
	10.6	Timing of breeding	88
	10.7	Age at first breeding and last breeding	89
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	89 89
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	89
		Nesting requirements Breeding diet	89
		Oestrous cycle and gestation period	92
		Litter size	92 92
		Age at weaning	92 92
		Age at removal from parent	92
		Growth and development	93
11		cial rearing	93
	11.1	Housing	93
		Temperature requirements	94
		Diet and feeding routine	95
	11.4	-	95
		-r requirements	10

11.5 Data recording		96
11.6	Identification methods	96
11.7	Hygiene	96
11.8 Behavioural considerations		96
11.9	Use of foster species	97
11.10	Weaning	97
11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	97
12 Acknowledgments		97

#### 4 Numbats

1	Introduction		
2	Taxo	nomy	100
	2.1	Nomenclature	100
	2.2	Subspecies	100
	2.3	Recent synonyms	100
	2.4	Other common names	100
3	Natu	ral history	100
	3.1	Morphometrics	100
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	100
	3.3	Conservation status	100
	3.4	Diet in the wild	100
	3.5	Longevity	101
4	Hous	sing requirements	101
	4.1	Exhibit design	101
	4.2	Holding area design	102
	4.3	Spatial requirements	103
	4.4	Position of enclosures	103
	4.5	Weather protection	103
	4.6	Temperature requirements	103
	4.7	Substrate	104
	4.8	Nest boxes	104
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	104
5	Gene	eral husbandry	105
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	105
	5.2	Record keeping	105
	5.3	Methods of identification	105
6	Feed	ing requirements	105
	6.1	Captive diet	105
	6.2	Supplements	106
	6.3	Presentation of food	107
7	Hand	lling and transport	107
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	107
	7.2	Catching bags	107
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	107
	7.4	Weighing and examination	108
	7.5	Release	108
	7.6	Transport requirements	108

8	Healt	h requi	rements	108
	8.1	-	ealth checks	108
	8.2	Detaile	d physical examination	109
	8.3	Known	health problems	109
9	Behav	viour		111
	9.1	Activity	7	111
	9.2		ehaviour	111
	9.3	Reprod	uctive behaviour	111
	9.4	Bathing		112
	9.5	-	oural problems	112
	9.6	Signs of		112
	9.7	Behavio	oural enrichment	112
	9.8	Introdu	ictions and removals	112
	9.9	Intrasp	ecific compatibility	112
	9.10	Intersp	ecific compatibility	113
10	Breed	ling		113
	10.1	Mating	system	113
	10.2	-	breeding	113
	10.3		uctive status	113
	10.4	-	ues used to control breeding	114
	10.5		ence of hybrids	115
	10.6		of breeding	115
	10.7	e	irst breeding and last breeding	115
	10.8	-	to breed every year	115
	10.9	•	to breed more than once per year	115
			ollow requirements	115
		Breedin		115
	10.12	Oestrou	is cycle and gestation period	115
	10.13	Litter si	ze	115
	10.14	Age at v	weaning	115
	10.15	Age of 1	removal from parents	115
	10.16	Growth	and development	115
11	Artifi	cial rear	ring	116
	11.1	Housin	-	116
	11.2	Temper	ature requirements	116
	11.3	Diet an	d feeding routine	116
	11.4	Specific	requirements	118
	11.5	Data re	cording	118
	11.6	Identifi	cation methods	118
		Hygien		118
			oural considerations	119
	11.9	Use of f	foster mothers	119
		Weanin	-	119
	11.11	Rehabil	itation and release procedures	119
12	12 Acknowledgments			119
	Adder	ndum 1	Sustainable termite harvesting	
			techniques	120
	Adder	ndum 2	Artificial diet preparation of	
			egg custard	124

Example of 100% termite diet
prior to breeding season
(November–March)
in numbats

125

#### **5** Bandicoots

1 Introduction		
2 Taxonomy		
2.1	Nomenclature	128
2.2	Subspecies	128
2.3	Recent synonyms	128
2.4	Other common names	128
3 Nati	ural history	128
3.1	Morphometrics	128
3.2	Distribution and habitat	128
3.3	Conservation status	128
3.4	Diet in the wild	128
3.5	Longevity	128
4 Hou	ising requirements	129
4.1	Exhibit design	129
4.2	Holding area design	129
4.3	Spatial requirements	129
4.4	Position of enclosures	130
4.5	Weather protection	130
4.6	Temperature requirements	130
4.7	Substrate	130
4.8	Nest boxes	130
4.9	Enclosure furnishings	130
	eral husbandry	130
5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	130
5.2	Record keeping	130
5.3	Methods of identification	131
6 Feed	ding requirements	131
6.1	Captive diet	131
6.2	Supplements	132
6.3	Presentation of food	132
7 Han	dling and transport	132
7.1	Timing of capture and handling	132
7.2	Catching bags	132
7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	132
7.4	Weighing and examination	133
7.5	Release	133
7.6	Transport requirements	133
8 Hea	Ith requirements	134
8.1	Daily health checks	134
8.2	Detailed physical examination	134
8.3	Known health problems	135

9	Behav	viour	136
	9.1	Activity	136
	9.2	Social behaviour	136
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	137
	9.4	Bathing	137
	9.5	Behavioural problems	137
	9.6	Signs of stress	137
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	137
	9.8	Introductions and removals	137
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	138
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	138
10	Breed	ling	138
	10.1	Mating system	138
	10.2	Ease of breeding	138
	10.3	Reproductive status	138
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	139
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	139
	10.6	Timing of breeding	139
	10.7	Age at first breeding and last breeding	139
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	140
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	140
	10.10	Nest/hollow requirements	140
	10.11	Breeding diet	140
	10.12	Oestrous cycle and gestation period	140
		Litter size	140
	10.14	Age at weaning	141
	10.15	Age of removal from parents	141
	10.16	Growth and development	141
11	Artifi	cial rearing	141
	11.1	Housing	141
	11.2	Temperature requirements	141
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	143
	11.4	Specific requirements	143
	11.5	Data recording	143
	11.6	Identification methods	143
	11.7	70 1 1	143
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	144
	11.9	Use of foster species	144
		Weaning	144
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	144
12	Ackn	owledgments	144

### 6 Koalas

1 Intro	oduction	145
2 Taxo	onomy	147
2.1	Nomenclature	147
2.2	Subspecies	147

	2.3	Recent synonyms	147
	2.4	Other common names	147
3	Natu	ral history	147
-	3.1	Morphometrics	147
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	148
	3.3	Conservation status	148
	3.4	Diet in the wild	149
	3.5	Longevity	149
4	Hous	ing requirements	150
-	4.1	Exhibit design	150
	4.2	Holding area design	150
	4.3	Spatial requirements	151
	4.4	Position of enclosures	152
	4.5	Weather protection	152
	4.6	Temperature requirements	152
	4.7	Substrate	152
	4.8	Enclosure furnishings	153
5	Conc	eral husbandry	153
5	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	153
	5.2	Record keeping	155
	5.3	Methods of identification	154
~			
6		ing requirements	154
	6.1	Captive diet	154
	6.2	Supplements	158
	6.3	Presentation of food	158
7		lling and transport	159
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	159
	7.2	Catching bags	159
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	159
	7.4	Weighing and examination	160
	7.5	Release	160
	7.6	Transport requirements	160
	7.7	Koala handling and photographing	
		by the public	161
8		th requirements	161
		Daily health checks	161
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	162
	8.3	Known health problems	163
	8.4	Chlamydia control	166
9	Beha	viour	167
	9.1	Activity	167
	9.2	Social behaviour	168
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	168
	9.4	Bathing	168
	9.5	Behavioural problems	168
	9.6	Signs of stress	168
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	169
	9.8	Introductions and removals	169
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	169

	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	169
10	Breed	ling	169
	10.1	Mating system	169
	10.2	Ease of breeding	169
	10.3	Reproductive status	169
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	170
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	171
	10.6	Timing of breeding	171
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	171
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	171
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	171
	10.10	Nesting requirements	171
	10.11	Breeding diet	171
	10.12	Oestrous cycle and gestation period	171
	10.13	Litter size	171
	10.14	Age at weaning	172
	10.15	Age at removal from parent	172
	10.16	Growth and development	172
11	Artifi	cial rearing	173
		Housing	173
	11.2	Temperature requirements	174
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	174
	11.4	Specific requirements	176
	11.5	Data recording	177
		Identification methods	177
	11.7	Hygiene	177
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	178
	11.9	Use of foster species	178
	11.10	Weaning	178
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	178
12	Ackn	owledgments	178
	Adder	ndum 1 The management of	
	eucaly	ptus plantations for koala fodder	179

#### 7 Wombats

Introduction 1		
2 Taxonomy		
2.1	Nomenclature	184
2.2	Subspecies	184
2.3	Recent synonyms	184
2.4	Other common names	184
Natu	ral history	184
3.1	Morphometrics	184
3.2	Distribution and habitat	184
3.3	Conservation status	184
3.4	Diet in the wild	184
3.5	Longevity	185
	Taxor 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Natur 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	Taxonomy2.1Nomenclature2.2Subspecies2.3Recent synonyms2.4Other common namesNatural history3.1Morphometrics3.2Distribution and habitat3.3Conservation status3.4Diet in the wild

4	Hous	ing requirements	185
	4.1	Exhibit design	185
	4.2	Holding area design	186
	4.3	Spatial requirements	186
	4.4	Position of enclosures	186
	4.5	Weather protection	186
	4.6	Temperature requirements	186
	4.7	Substrate	186
	4.8	Nest boxes	187
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	187
5	Gene	eral husbandry	187
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	187
	5.2	Record keeping	187
	5.3	Methods of identification	187
6	Feedi	ing requirements	188
	6.1	Captive diet	188
	6.2	Supplements	188
	6.3	Presentation of food	188
7	Hand	lling and transport	188
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	188
	7.2	Catching bags	188
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	188
	7.4	Weighing and examination	189
	7.5	Release	189
	7.6	Transport requirements	189
8	Healt	th requirements	190
8	Healt 8.1	t <b>h requirements</b> Daily health checks	<b>190</b> 190
8		t <b>h requirements</b> Daily health checks Detailed physical examination	
8	8.1	Daily health checks	190
	8.1 8.2	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems	190 190
	8.1 8.2 8.3	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems	190 190 191
	8.1 8.2 8.3 Beha	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour	190 190 191 <b>193</b>
	8.1 8.2 8.3 Beha 9.1	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196
	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity ding Mating system	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 <b>196</b> <b>196</b>
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1 10.2	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity ding Mating system Ease of breeding	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 <b>196</b> 196 196
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1 10.2 10.3	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity ding Mating system Ease of breeding Reproductive condition	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 196 196 197
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity ding Mating system Ease of breeding Reproductive condition Techniques used to control breeding	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 196 196 197 197
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4 10.5	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity <b>ding</b> Mating system Ease of breeding Reproductive condition Techniques used to control breeding Occurrence of hybrids	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 196 196 196 197 197
9	8.1 8.2 8.3 <b>Beha</b> 9.1 9.2 9.3 9.4 9.5 9.6 9.7 9.8 9.9 9.10 9.11 <b>Breec</b> 10.1 10.2 10.3 10.4	Daily health checks Detailed physical examination Known health problems viour Activity Social behaviour Reproductive behaviour Bathing Behavioural problems Signs of stress Behavioural enrichment Introductions and removals Intraspecific compatibility Interspecific compatibility Suitability to captivity ding Mating system Ease of breeding Reproductive condition Techniques used to control breeding	190 190 191 <b>193</b> 193 194 195 195 195 195 196 196 196 196 196 196 197 197

	10.8	Ability to breed every year	198
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	198
	10.10	Nesting requirements	198
	10.11	Breeding diet	198
	10.12	Oestrous cycle and gestation period	199
	10.13	Litter size	199
	10.14	Age at weaning	199
	10.15	Age of removal from parents	199
	10.16	Growth and development	199
11	Artifi	cial rearing	200
	11.1	Housing	200
	11.2	Temperature requirements	200
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	200
	11.4	Specific requirements	201
	11.5	Data recording	202
	11.6	Identification methods	202
	11.7	Hygiene	202
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	202
	11.9	Use of foster species	203
	11.10	Weaning	203
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	203
12	Ackn	owledgments	203

## 8 Possums and gliders

1	Intro	duction	205
2	Taxonomy		206
	2.1	Nomenclature	206
	2.2	Subspecies	206
	2.3	Recent synonyms	206
	2.4	Other common names	206
3	Natu	ral history	206
	3.1	Morphometrics	206
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	206
	3.3	Conservation status	206
	3.4	Diet in the wild	206
	3.5	Longevity	209
4	4 Housing requirements		
	4.1	Exhibit design	210
	4.2	Holding area design	214
	4.3	Spatial requirements	214
	4.4	Position of enclosures	214
	4.5	Weather protection	214
	4.6	Temperature requirements	215
	4.7	Substrate	215
	4.8	Nest boxes	215
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	215

5	Gene	ral husbandry	215
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	215
	5.2	Record keeping	216
	5.3	Methods of identification	217
6	Feedi	ng requirements	217
	6.1	Captive diet	217
	6.2	Supplements	221
	6.3	Presentation of food	221
7	Hand	lling and transport	221
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	221
	7.2	Catching bags	221
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	221
	7.4	Weighing and examination	223
	7.5	Release	223
	7.6	Transport requirements	223
8	Healt	h requirements	224
	8.1	Daily health checks	224
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	224
	8.3	Known health problems	225
9	Behav	viour	227
	9.1	Activity cycles	227
	9.2	Social behaviour	229
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	232
	9.4	Bathing	232
	9.5	Behavioural problems	232
	9.6	Signs of stress	232
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	232
	9.8	Introductions and removals	232
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	232
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	233
10	Breed	ling	234
	10.1	Mating system	234
	10.2	Ease of breeding	234
	10.3	Reproductive status	235
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	236
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	236
		Timing of breeding	236
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	236
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	236
	10.9	, 1,	236
		Nesting requirements	236
		Breeding diet	238
		Oestrous cycle and gestation period	238
		Litter size	238
		Age at weaning	238
		Age at removal from parent	238
		Growth and development	238
11		cial rearing	238
	11.1	Housing	238

11.2	Temperature requirements	239
11.3	Diet and feeding routine	240
11.4	Specific requirements	242
11.5	Data recording	242
11.6	Identification methods	242
11.7	Hygiene	242
11.8	Behavioural considerations	243
11.9	Use of foster species	243
11.10	Weaning	243
11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	244
12 Ackn	owledgments	244

## 9 Macropods

1	Intro	245	
2	Taxo	246	
	2.1	Nomenclature	246
	2.2	Subspecies	246
	2.3	Recent synonyms	246
	2.4	Other common names	246
3	Natu	ral history	246
	3.1	Morphometrics	246
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	246
	3.3	Conservation status	246
	3.4	Diet in the wild	246
	3.5	Longevity	246
4	Hous	ing requirements	251
	4.1	Exhibit design	251
	4.2	Holding area design	256
	4.3	Spatial requirements	256
	4.4	Position of enclosures	256
	4.5	Weather protection	257
	4.6	Temperature requirements	257
	4.7	Substrate	257
	4.8	Enclosure furnishings	257
5	Gene	eral husbandry	257
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	257
	5.2	Record keeping	258
	5.3	Methods of identification	258
6	Feed	ing requirements	259
	6.1	Captive diet	259
	6.2	Supplements	262
	6.3	Presentation of food	262
7	Hanc	lling and transport	262
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	262
	7.2	Catching bags	262
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	262
	7.4	Weighing and examination	267

	7.5	Release	267
	7.6	Transport requirements	267
8	Healt	h requirements	268
	8.1	Daily health checks	268
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	269
	8.3	Known health problems	270
9	Behav	viour	276
	9.1	Activity	276
	9.2	Social behaviour	277
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	279
	9.4	Bathing	279
	9.5	Behavioural problems	279
	9.6	Signs of stress	280
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	280
	9.8	Introductions and removals	280
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	280
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	281
10	Breed	ling	281
	10.1	Mating system	281
	10.2	Ease of breeding	281
	10.3	Reproductive status	282
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	284
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	284
	10.6	Timing of breeding	284
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	286
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	286
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	
		Nesting requirements	286
		Breeding diet	286 286
		Oestrous cycle and gestation period Litter size	286
		Age at weaning	288
		Age at removal from parent	288
		Growth and development	289
11		-	
	Aruno 11.1	ci <mark>al rearing</mark> Housing	<b>289</b> 289
	11.1	Temperature requirements	289 289
	11.2		289
		Specific requirements	202
		Data recording	292
		Identification methods	293
		Hygiene	293
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	293
		Use of foster species	294
		Weaning	295
		Rehabilitation and release procedures	295
12	Ackn	owledgments	295

#### 10 Bats

1	Introduction 2		
2	Taxor	nomy	298
	2.1	Nomenclature	298
	2.2	Subspecies	298
	2.3	Recent synonyms	298
	2.4	Other common names	298
3	Natu	ral history	298
	3.1	Morphometrics	298
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	298
	3.3	Conservation status	298
	3.4	Diet in the wild	298
	3.5	Longevity	298
4	Hous	ing requirements	303
	4.1	Exhibit design	303
	4.2	Holding area design	306
	4.3	Spatial requirements	306
	4.4	Position of enclosures	307
	4.5	Weather protection	307
	4.6	Temperature requirements	307
	4.7	Substrate	309
	4.8	Roosting boxes	310
_	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	311
5		ral husbandry	311
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	311
	5.2	Record keeping	313
_	5.3	Methods of identification	313
6		ng requirements	316
	6.1	Captive diet	316
	6.2	Supplements	320
_	6.3	Presentation of food	320
7		lling and transport	321
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	321
	7.2	Catching bags and other containment devices	321
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	321
	7.3 7.4	Weighing and examination	325
	7.5	Release	325
	7.6	Transport requirements	325
Q		h requirements	326
0	8.1	Daily health checks	326
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	327
	8.3	Known health problems	327
0	Behav	-	331
J	9.1	Activity	331
	9.1 9.2	Social behaviour	333
	9.2 9.3	Reproductive behaviour	333
	1.5	reproductive beliavibul	555

	9.4	Bathing	333
	9.5	Behavioural problems	333
	9.6	Signs of stress	334
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	334
	9.8	Introductions and removals	334
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	334
	9.10	Interspecific compatibility	334
	9.11	Suitability to captivity	335
10	Breed	ling	336
	10.1	Mating system	336
	10.2	Ease of breeding	336
	10.3	Reproductive condition	337
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	338
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	338
	10.6	Timing of breeding	338
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	341
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	341
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	341
	10.10	Roosting requirements	341
	10.11	Breeding diet	341
		Oestrous cycle and gestation period	341
	10.13	Litter size	341
		Age at weaning	341
		Age at removal from parents	341
	10.16	Growth and development	342
11	Artifie	cial rearing	342
	11.1	Housing	342
	11.2	Temperature requirements	345
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	345
	11.4	Specific requirements	348
	11.5	Data recording	348
	11.6	Identification methods	349
	11.7	Hygiene	349
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	349
	11.9	Use of foster species	349
	11.10	Weaning	349
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	350
12	Ackno	owledgments	350

### 11 Rodents

1	Intro	luction	351
2	2 Taxonomy		
	2.1	Nomenclature	352
	2.2	Subspecies	352
	2.3	Recent synonyms	352
	2.4	Other common names	352

3	Natu	ıral history	352
	3.1	Morphometrics	352
	3.2	Distribution and habitat	352
	3.3	Conservation status	352
	3.4	Diet in the wild	352
	3.5	Longevity	352
4	Hous	ing requirements	354
	4.1	Exhibit design	354
	4.2	Holding area design	355
	4.3	Spatial requirements	356
	4.4	Position of enclosures	356
	4.5	Weather protection	356
	4.6	Temperature requirements	356
	4.7	Substrate	356
	4.8	Nest sites	356
	4.9	Enclosure furnishings	357
5	Gene	eral husbandry	357
	5.1	Hygiene and cleaning	357
	5.2	Record keeping	357
	5.3	Methods of identification	358
6	Feed	ing requirements	358
	6.1	Captive diet	358
	6.2	Supplements	359
	6.3	Presentation of food	359
7	Hand	lling and transport	360
	7.1	Timing of capture and handling	360
	7.2	Catching bags	360
	7.3	Capture and restraint techniques	360
	7.4	Weighing and examination	361
	7.5	Release	361
	7.6	Transport requirements	361
8	Healt	th requirements	361
	8.1	Daily health checks	361
	8.2	Detailed physical examination	361
	8.3	Known health problems	362
9	Beha	viour	363
	9.1	Activity	363
	9.2	Social behaviour	364
	9.3	Reproductive behaviour	367
	9.4	Bathing	367
	9.5	Behavioural problems	367
	9.6	Signs of stress	367
	9.7	Behavioural enrichment	367
	9.8	Introductions and removals	367
	9.9	Intraspecific compatibility	368
	9.10	interspecific compatibility	368
10	Bree	0	368
	10.1	Mating system	368
	10.2	Ease of breeding	369

	10.3	Reproductive condition	369
	10.4	Techniques used to control breeding	371
	10.5	Occurrence of hybrids	371
	10.6	Timing of breeding	373
	10.7	Age at first and last breeding	373
	10.8	Ability to breed every year	373
	10.9	Ability to breed more than once per year	373
	10.10	Nest/hollow requirements	373
	10.11	Breeding diet	373
		Oestrous cycle and gestation period	373
	10.13	Litter size	375
	10.14	Age at weaning	375
	10.15	Age at removal from parents	375
	10.16	Growth and development	375
11	Artifi	cial rearing	375
	11.1	Housing	375
	11.2	Temperature requirements	376
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	376
	11.4	Specific requirements	377
	11.5	Data recording	379
	11.6	Identification methods	379
	11.7	Hygiene and special precautions	379
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	379
	11.9	Use of foster species	379
	11.10	Weaning	379
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	380
12	Ackn	owledgments	380

## 12 Dingoes

1 Introduction		381
2 Taxonomy		
2.1	Nomenclature	382
2.2	Subspecies	382
2.3	Recent synonyms	382
2.4	Other common names	382
3 Natural history		
3.1	Morphometrics	382
3.2	Distribution and habitat	382
3.3	Conservation status	382
3.4	Diet in the wild	382
3.5	Longevity	382
4 Housing requirements 3		
4.1	Exhibit design	383
4.2	Holding area design	384
4.3	Spatial requirements	384
4.4	Position of enclosures	385
4.5	Weather protection	385
4.6	Temperature requirements	385
	Taxo 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Natu 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 Hou 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	Taxonomy2.1Nomenclature2.2Subspecies2.3Recent synonyms2.4Other common namesNatural history3.1Morphometrics3.2Distribution and habitat3.3Conservation status3.4Diet in the wild3.5LongevityHousing requirements4.1Exhibit design4.2Holding area design4.3Spatial requirements4.4Position of enclosures4.5Weather protection

385 385 385 385 385 385 385 386 386 386 386 386 387 chandling 387 chandling 387 chandling 387 s 387 s 388 a88 a88 a88 a88 a88 a88 a88 a88 a88
385 385 385 385 385 386 386 386 386 387 4 387 4 387 5 387 5 387 387 387 387 387 387 387 387
385 385 385 386 386 386 386 386 387 chandling 387 cchniques 387 cion 387 s 387 s 387 s 387 s 387 s 388 388 as 389 394 394
385 on 385 386 386 386 386 386 387 chandling 387 cchniques 387 cion 387 s 387 s 387 s 387 s 387 s 388 anation 388 s 389 394 394
on 385 386 386 386 386 386 387 chandling 387 cchniques 387 cion 387 s 387 s 387 s 388 388 anation 388 s 389 394 394
386 386 386 386 387 387 echniques 387 ion 387 ion 387 387 388 388 anation 388 s 389 394 394 395
386 386 386 387 handling 387 echniques 387 cion 387 s 387 s 388 a88 nation 388 s 389 394 394
386 386 386 387 handling 387 echniques 387 cion 387 s 387 s 388 a88 nation 388 s 389 394 394
386 387 handling 387 echniques 387 tion 387 s 387 s 387 s 388 nation 388 s 389 s 394 394 395
387         handling       387         387       387         cchniques       387         cion       387         387       387         388       388         anation       388         s       389         394       395
387         handling       387         387       387         cchniques       387         cion       387         387       387         388       388         anation       388         s       389         394       395
handling 387 387 cchniques 387 ion 387 s 387 s 388 nation 388 s 389 s 394 394
387         schniques       387         sion       387         387       387         387       387         388       388         anation       388         s       389         394       395
echniques 387 ion 387 387 387 388 388 anation 388 s 389 394 394 395
tion 387 387 387 388 388 388 388 388 388 389 394 394 394
387 387 388 388 388 s 388 389 394 394 395
s 387 388 388 as 388 s 389 394 394 395
388 388 nation 388 s 389 394 394 395
388 nation 388 s 389 <b>394</b> 394 395
nation 388 s 389 394 394 395
s 389 <b>394</b> 395
<b>394</b> 394 395
394 395
395
r 397
397
397
397
t 397
ovals 398
lity 398
ity 398
. 398
399
399
399
399
400
trol breeding 400
400
402
402 eding 402
eding 402
eding 402 ear 403
eding 402 ear 403 aan once per year 403
eding 402 ear 403 han once per year 403 403
1

	10.14	Age at weaning	403
	10.15	Age at removal from parents	403
	10.16	Growth and development	404
11	Artifi	cial rearing	404
	11.1	Housing	404
	11.2	Temperature requirements	404
	11.3	Diet and feeding routine	404
	11.4	Specific requirements	405
	11.5	Data recording	405
	11.6	Identification methods	406
	11.7	Hygiene	406
	11.8	Behavioural considerations	406
	11.9	Use of foster species	406
	11.10	Weaning	406
	11.11	Rehabilitation and release procedures	407

403	12 Acknowledgments	407
403	C C	
404	References	408
404	Appendix 1 – Glossary	468
404	Appendix 2 – Enclosure sizes	473
404	Appendix 3 – Suppliers and Wildlife	
404	Agencies	476
405	0	
405	Appendix 4 – Marsupial milk, milk formulas and comparison with	
406	monotreme and eutherian milk	482
406		402
406	Appendix 5 – Taking body	
406	measurements	487
406	Appendix 6 – General references	488
407	Bibliography	491

#### Foreword

As someone who has had more than twelve years experience within the zoo profession, it is with great pleasure that I pen these few words as a foreword to this excellent publication. As it says in the Introduction, there have been many previous books and publications on the subject of managing Australian animals in captivity. It is my belief that this current publication will prove to be a landmark publication and the reference for all those interested in maintaining animals in captivity. It matters not whether you are a zoo professional, research institution, wildlife carer, National Parks personnel or an enthusiastic amateur – this book is for you.

The book itself gives a most useful brief account of the historic record of each group in captivity before moving on to cover subjects including husbandry, diet, captive breeding, conservation status, milk supplements and replacements and recommendations for display and behavioural enrichment.

As I perused the various chapters, I was struck by the speed with which our knowledge of these animals is increasing and the need to centralise it in one publication. I was also struck by the fact that we have come a long way since Captain Nicolas Baudin, on his way back to Europe in 1803, fed his kangaroos wine and sugar, while the emus were force fed with pellets of rice mash and his officers gave up their cabins to accommodate the animals. The fact that so many survived this long voyage says more about the hardiness of the animals than the dietary knowledge of their carers.

Since the first specimens were taken back to Europe at the end of the 18th century, Australian animals, owing to their uniqueness, have held a fascination for people throughout the world. That the fascination has not abated, but indeed increased, is evidenced by the number of institutions throughout the world which are displaying a number of species and those which are asking to be allowed to display some of our unique fauna.

The original reasons for taking animals to the northern hemisphere was certainly to demonstrate our dominion over nature and to show these 'curiosities' to the public. Today, while curiosity and fascination still play a part in the desire to display Australian animals, more and more often the animals are being used for conservation education reasons and, on occasions, captive breeding.

It is unfortunate that Australia has had an unenviable record in species extinction during our first 150 years of settlement. It behoves us to maintain what we have left and to increase the numbers existing, both in the field and by captive management, of a number of species. Success is best achieved by increasing our knowledge of our fauna and undertaking public education programs. I am, of course, committed to the roles which zoos and like institutions can play in ensuring that conservation breeding, research and conservation education programs are undertaken.

This book contains the work and knowledge of a large number of experts and professionals, many of whom I have come to know personally over the years. I believe that it will become a 'must have' volume on the library shelves of people seriously interested in the future of Australian mammals.

I commend Stephen Jackson, CSIRO Publishing and all those involved in this excellent undertaking and I commend the book to you, the reader.

Ed McAlister AO President World Association of Zoos and Aquariums Adelaide November 2003 This page intentionally left blank

#### INTRODUCTION

Australian mammals have been held in captivity in Australia and throughout the world for over 200 years. Although originally kept as sources of curiosity, entertainment and novelty, today they are increasingly held to educate the public about their biology and threatened status, as part of captive breeding programs, for hand-rearing following the death of their mothers, for rehabilitation after injury or illness, for research and as pets.

Captive facilities need to optimize conditions for the animals by allowing them to feel secure, providing high quality food, allowing them to undertake a large range of natural solitary and social behaviours, allowing them to be easily observed for husbandry and education purposes and allowing the animals to be caught with minimum stress. The husbandry of Australia's mammals in captivity is an expanding field, with earlier literature based largely on first-hand experiences of enclosure sizes, captive diet, behaviour and breeding. While this information is highly valuable, there has been a need to bring together aspects of the biology (including wild diet, social behaviour, reproduction and nesting requirements) to maximize appropriate conditions for these species in captivity. Publications such as the landmark Monotremes and Marsupials (Collins 1973), The Management of Australian Mammals in Captivity (Evans 1982) and more recently the Care and Handling of Australian Native Animals (Hand 1990) have made great advances in our knowledge of the husbandry of Australian mammals, though they do not include all mammalian taxonomic groups nor attempt to match the general principles of husbandry with their wild biology and, with the exception of Collins (1973), nor do they have a standardized outline for information coverage.

The aim of this book is to provide detailed information on the biology and husbandry of all Australia's native terrestrial mammals. It is hoped that zookeepers, students, researchers, veterinarians, wildlife carers and the ever-expanding group of private individuals that keep Australian mammals as pets will find the information on general biology, captive management, behaviour, breeding, the extensive reference list and bibliography, useful. Although primarily focused on the management of Australian mammals in captivity, various aspects are of use to field biologists including capture and restraint techniques, aging techniques and behaviour and breeding information. It is also hoped that this volume will stimulate further improvement in the standard of husbandry of Australian mammals.

Despite attempts to incorporate as much published and unpublished information as possible in this book, there are clearly numerous gaps in our knowledge that need to be filled. Areas of future development include fine-tuning diets, enclosure designs, area requirements, capture and restraint techniques, behavioral enrichment methods and population management techniques. The availability of animals within captive facilities also allows the opportunity to undertake significant research including studies on taxonomy, aging techniques, digestive physiology, social and reproductive behaviour, reproductive physiology such as oestrous cycles and gestation periods, artificial reproductive techniques, milk composition and growth and development. With this in mind, this book is seen as the consolidation of information for the start of a journey rather than an end, and so readers are encouraged to further explore and record their knowledge of the captive management of Australian mammals.

This page intentionally left blank

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Clearly a work of this scope cannot be created in isolation, and the help and assistance of numerous people in various institutions throughout Australia and overseas has been extensively utilized. In undertaking this project I have endeavoured to include the extraordinary knowledge that exists within the zoo industry and by numerous field biologists, by asking many people to read and make comments on various draft chapters or sections of chapters in order to improve them further. This information has proved invaluable in making this work of greater quality and giving a broader perspective than a particular institution and therefore is more widely useful. Although I have been responsible for putting the book together, the end product is a testament to the abundant skills and experience, generously shared, by people within the zoo industry and numerous biologists.

In particular I would like to thank those who coauthored or authored several of the chapters including Dr Melody Serena, Dr David Middleton, Vicki Power, Dr Cree Monaghan, Dr Katie Reid, Des Spittal and Liz Romer. Sincere thanks to Lindell Andrews, Wendy Gleen, Annette Gifford and Geoff Underwood for reviewing many of the chapters. I am very grateful to Annette Gifford, Jo Cowey and Louise Baume who reviewed the sections on artificial rearing and made numerous valuable suggestions. Professor Peter Temple-Smith and Dr David Taggart reviewed the sections on reproduction and several other chapters, which was greatly appreciated. Dr Michael Messer made numerous valuable comments on the content of milk of the various taxonomic groups and the use of various milk formulas. An enormous thankyou goes to the various veterinarians who read over the health requirements section of each chapter and made various suggestions to ensure the health information was accurate, including Dr Terri Bellamy, Dr David Blyde, Dr Rosie Booth, Dr Cree Monaghan, Dr Lee Skerratt and Dr Rupert Woods. Dr Ian Lugdon also read over all the health sections and made numerous valuable comments.

Many thanks to the staff at Taronga Zoo who read over various drafts of most chapters and allowed me to take photos from which most of the handling drawings were completed. The staff of the Zoological Parks and Gardens Board of Victoria, including Michael de Oleveira, Professor Peter Temple-Smith and Gary Slater provided valuable support for this project. I am also grateful for the assistance of Megan Temple who photocopied a number of the references. Acknowledgments for individuals who helped in the different chapters can be found at the end of each chapter. Thanks also to those who helped review the whole document including William Meikle and Matthew Crane. Many thanks also to Nick Alexander and Briana Elwood from CSIRO Publishing for all their hard work and patience in putting this work together. Finally many thanks also to my parents and Kerstin McPherson for her patience and encouragement in writing this and for her assistance in finding many references.

## OUTLINE

Each chapter covers a separate taxonomic group of Australian mammals and an effort has been made to make the scope of information covered as uniform as possible by using the husbandry manual outline described in Jackson (2003). The common names and taxonomy used in this book follows Strahan (1995) except where stated. The references for each chapter are found in the reference section at the end of the book with additional references that may be useful being found in the bibliography.